Interview with Dr. Matthew Johnson on May 2, 2002:

I went into medicine because my father’s a physician.  I was going to be a veterinarian.  Eventually, after I went to school at the University of Michigan, I decided people were more important than animals.  That could be debated and has been, but I decided --   Dad suggested that medicine was better.  My older brother was in medical school two years in front of me.  . . .  My older brother is two years ahead of me.  He went to medical school, went into surgery.  I was in an M.D./Ph.D. program, and my brother at one point said, “That’s ridiculous.  Why be in an M.D./Ph.D. program because you’re going to be a surgeon anyway, and surgeons don’t need Ph.D.s.”  So I then agreed with him.  I was taking biochemistry with my ______Ph.D. biochemistry and decided against it then and concentrated more on the medical aspect of it and followed him into medical school exclusively.  He was two years ahead of me and we lived together with our friends and we had a great time and  I went into surgery.  My wife is an attorney and she had a job on the 85th floor of a building in Chicago.  My choices when I went into surgical residency were to go to Chicago.  So I went and looked it over and went to Loyola in Chicago, which was, in my opinion, and still is the best surgical program there.  We had our first child in my fourth year of medical school.  I was in gross anatomy lab, and my professor said, “Dr. Johnson, your wife requests your presence.”  So I left the cadaver and went and had our first kid.  In my internship, we had our second child, and it’s a very intense residency; so for about a year and a half I never saw my wife or my children.  My oldest child developed an affinity for Johnny Carson over Jay Leno because the only time he ever saw me was if he stayed up late enough at age two to watch the Tonight Show.  Since Cynthia was a high, big-deal corporate attorney, we never saw each other.  

Towards the middle of my second year, I decided I would rather not be a surgeon.  A friend of mine left the radiology program because a woman he wanted to marry was at McGill.  She spoke French, her mom [?] spoke French, and they didn’t want to leave Canada; so he left and went there and told me, “Matt, there’s an opening in the radiology residency.  You don’t want to be a surgeon, anyway.”  So I went down the next day and talked to the chairman and said, “I’d like to be a radiology resident,” and starting my third year of residency I was a  radiology resident.  Since I became a radiologist.  My dad’s a radiologist.  As I told you before, my dad was a radiologist and did a lot of angiography and used to form the catheters that he used at home over steam with the stove and then take them back and get them sterilized.  So I was exposed to radiology and interventional radiology.   It was clear I had a surgical mentality.  My brother’s a surgeon, still is a surgeon.  I pretty much went into the radiology residency figuring I was going to be an interventional radiologist.  Loyola was a fabulous place to be a resident.  There were no fellows.  Because I had shown such a desire to be an interventional radiologist, I was frequently given free rein of the interventional suite.  The VA, for once, the staff interventional radiologist was Indian and went back to India for a month.  I was the resident there, and I ran the lab, the whole interventional suite as a fourth-year resident for a month..  There was no staff, which is a good setting up; then  went out around the country and interviewed for interventional fellowships – this was in my third year – and still Cynthia was practicing.  She’s switched to working within a company and decided then – or we worked together and decided the places I could go and the places she could be a lawyer.  So we looked at Boston and Washington, D.C. – and including in Washington, D.C. was Baltimore which was only 25 miles away.  She could look at a job at Atlanta.  So my major spots  I decided I wanted to go were in Boston, Hopkins because it was close to D.C., and Emory.  By that time – so we moved to fellowship when my daughter was born.  So that was my third kid.  So we moved when Jessica was about six months old out to Baltimore.

When I took a job at Hopkins, I did a two-year fellowship at Hopkins.  The first year was clinical, the second year was half clinical and half research because I wanted to be an academic interventional radiologist.  No question.  And do research and treat patients.  And Hopkins was one of the best there was.  So that was good.  And I met Dr. Trerotola who was the previous section head.  He had just completed his fellowship when I started my fellowship; so he was on staff at Hopkins.  He left after my first year of fellowship to become the head at I.U.  We became friends and respected each other a lot.  I thought he was the best interventional radiologist on staff at Hopkins.  Then he left.  So when he left, I said, “Save me a spot.”  And he said, “There’ll be a spot.”  So after my second year at Hopkins, Scott had already called, and in February that year I had agreed to come to I.U.  We came out to Indianapolis, found a house near Scott – actually it’s only about a mile away.  Then I had my fourth kid a month before we came out.  We came back.  That’s how we got to I.U.  Mostly -- started at Michigan, went to Loyola, stopped being a surgeon, became a radiologist, wanted to be an interventional radiologist, went to Hopkins, met Scott, came back to Indiana.  How’s that for delineated?  At that time, then, when you asked about the history of IR, is that a good seguy into that?

So the specialty that we talked about is – nothing in radiology is very old since it started in 1895 and arteriography somewhere in the middle of the last century came into effect.  The first angioplasty was by a guy named  Dodder [?] in 1964.  That angioplasty consisted of taking a big catheter and ramming it through a narrowed artery.  The problem with using a big catheter is that the biggest channel you could make to the artery was as big as the hole you had to make in a person’s artery.  So you had a big hole to make a big angioplasty.  Then somewhere after that Greunseig [?], a German guy – I think he was the one who did it – had the idea to make a balloon on the tip of a catheter; so that instead of making a big hole with your catheter, put the catheter where you wanted to make the angioplasty and then put a balloon in it.  And that came about in the‘70s – the late ‘60s and ‘70s.  So Dodder [?] in ’64, and angioplasty itself, invented by radiologists despite the fact it’s been used by cardiologists as well – and I think Greunseig [?] used _________were in the coronaries.  But he was a radiologist.  Balloon angiography became – balloon angioplasty came into place in the ‘70s. If I’m correct, in the early to mid-70’s, that’s when the Interventional Radiology Society became – the society of cardiovasular and interventional radiology -- came into existence.  I think about 1975.  Our first societal journal came into place soon after – It’s the Journal of Vascular Inteventional Radiology [DR. JOHNSON POINTS TO IT ON A SHELF.], right there; so it doesn’t go back a long way.  We just published – I mean, the society is so new and the specialty is new enough that we didn’t even have a monthly publishing until last year.  We had six journals a year for maybe up until, I don’t know, five years ago.  Then we had 10 issues a year and  we just went to monthly.  The society is at the cutting edge.  The specialty is at the cutting edge of medicine.  We are right there.  That’s the history of interventional radiology in a nutshell. 

It started as angiography.  Then it was called for years special procedures.  At a resident at Loyola, it was special procedures.  I went into specials to do my cases; there was no interventional radiology although that name had been about because of the society , but everybody called it specials.  Here at I.U. not only did all the signs say Specials until Scott got here, there were Specials signs here even when I was here in the late to mid-‘90s, or mid- to late ‘90s.  We just finally got interventional radiology signs put up, and people still refer to us as specials despite the fact it’s decades out of date.  But still it’s specials.   There were no signs for interventional radiology at the V.A. until a couple of years ago.  We’re specials.  And people still refer to it.  Interventional radiology started out – it’s always been a catheter-based specialty, viewed as such.  A catheter.  Long tube put through people’s arteries.  And people always thought of it as arteries.  But we also use catheters to get into veins.  For a long period of time, we used catheters to get into lymphatics.  Lymphatics are those tiny little vessels that pick up fluid that’s outside of your blood cells and carries it back to the heart.  They’re tiny, itty bitty things, but they are involved frequently with cancer.  For years we did things called lymphangiograms, which meant slicing into the top of someone’s foot and putting about a 30-guage needle into these nearly-microscopic blood vessels. Extremely difficult procedure.  Happily, they’re somewhat archaic.  I think we are the only center that still even knows how to do them in the state. 

When I came, here, Scott and I were the only two who knew how to do them in this state, and I don’t know if anyone else is doing it.  Nicki did them, too.  Nicki Harris was one of my original partners.  And then as catheter-based –  in about the ‘80s we started thinking about things like abscess drainage.  Because abscess draining used to be a surgical procedure.  If you had an abscess – do you know what an abscess is? –it’s an infected collection.  That used to be surgical.  You couldn’t really drain an abscess.  You had to – I mean you couldn’t do it percutaneously.  Before 1980 you had to go to the operating room.  And the beginning of it about 1980, I was an adult at this time and you were an adult as well in 1980.  This thing didn’t even exist.  If you had an abscess, you probably had to go to the OR.  But then it became possible.  Wait a second!  If we put a needle into it, then a wire through the needle and then took the needle out and put a catheter over it, maybe we could drain it percutaneously.  They did that about 1980, but they did it, like,  only really simple big abscesses and they had surgical backup, surgical backup for something that we do now without batting an eyelash.  It is – and we do now the most difficult abscesses frequently [?] that surgeons don’t want to touch, like really sick people who’ve been operated on several times and the abscess is between bowel loops or something very difficult.  They’ll ask us to do it – how about that for a ___shift?  

And, similarly, I think nephrostomy __ for draining for obstructed kidneys.  I don’t know when that occurred.  Probably well before abscesses.  I guess I don’t know.  And I also don’t know when biliary drainage came through, when people have bile ducts, but now nephrostomy took place and it’s standard care.  It’s what you do if a person has an obstructed ureter or some obstruction for urine outflow and for some reason, and there are many – urologists feel it is not appropriate for them to try to cannulate the area  from below.  For example, if there is cancer blocking the outflow of the ureter into the bladder and the urologist can’t get through it, we’ll put a tube in the patient’s back into their kidney.  And not only that.  Now we do – there’s a procedure we do with the urologist called percutaneous nephrolymphotomy, which is – we put in a catheter that’s a centimeter in diameter; so we find access to the kidney and then put a sheath that’s a full centimeter in diameter straight down through the patient’s back into the kidney and allow the urologist to work through an endoscope and either blow up the stones, usually with laser – They put a scope through and then use a laser to blow them out after we’d provided access through   Or other things that you can do just percutaneously – blot – we can angioplasty, use a balloon to blow up obstructed ureters, for example, and then put a stent through.  Then after several weeks we take the stent out and the obstruction is gone and they’ve been cured of that, which is kind of cool. 

Frequently in transplants that’s something  -- in biliary interventional cases.  That’s one of my favorites because they’re extremely complex.  Especially being a very strong transplant center here, patients with liver transplants when they have ______ connections between the donor’s liver bile ducts and the recipient bowel, those frequently get strictures in them.  Or for other reasons, you get strictures, and sometimes patients can have endoscopes.  Gastroenterologists who are facile with endoscopes, they can put an endoscope down and find in the bile duct and put a stent up from below, and that’d be great because you don’t have to have a hole in your side.  But if they can’t, then we can put a needle through the patient’s side or underneath their breastbone, depending on where the obstruction is or both.  We have a lot of people with more than one tube.  And we can find the bile duct, put a wire through the needle, take the needle out and put a catheter through, and then relieve the obstruction of the bile duct.  So we have patients live – hundreds of patients who come back to see us for treatment, for maintenance of their stents that we place across their obstructed bile ducts either from transplants or from surgical problems, like with a gall bladder operation.  Laparoscopic ________omy is a great procedure, but frequently bile ducts get injured because you’re working through laparoscopes.  That’s a major problem.  Like a bile duct during a laparoscopic _________tomy  you take what could have been an easy operation, taking out a gall bladder, to a year’s worth of stenting from us because bile ducts heal very slowly.  If we relieve an obstruction  for some reason, we leave the stents in, usually, about a year.  That’s a year of having a tube come out your side, or one or more.  But. in addition, and this is another thing, we are the only people in the state who do this, to my knowledge.  If people have bile duct stones, like gall stones that came out of their gall bladder or stones that formed there, we can gain access into the bile duct system and then, working with an endoscope through our tracks, use a laser and explode those stones and get rid of them, break them up and suck them out, put them through into the bowel so you never need an operation and treat obstructing _______.  That’s one of my favorites.  I do that.  That’s one of the things I do; so patients come to us, and we cure them of disease that would otherwise require extremely intense and dangerous liver operation.  I love that.

[Interviewer comments that he turned down surgery and is now doing something better.]

It’s different, not better.  I think it’s better.  Actually one of my closest friends here is a vascular surgeon, and he frequently thinks that what I am doing is much cooler.  My brother – he thinks it’s really great, my brother the surgeon.  The thing is, however,  my hours are the same as they would have been were I in surgery.  The training was easier, which is good, because I needed that when my kids were young, but now I’m here as much.  

[Interviewer:  How does this connect with radiology then when it hasn’t anything to do with films?]

It’s a great question.  How does it connect with radiology is a wonderful question.  The training was through radiology; I did a radiology residency.  In order to do these things with catheters and needles – you know, you can’t see what you’re doing.  It’s on the inside of the body; so these rooms we have out here all have fluoroscopes.  Patients come and most lie on the table.  Under the table was an X-ray generator and on the top is an X-ray receiver and next to them are monitors.  So if we put a wire into somebody’s kidney or artery or vein, we look up at the monitor and are watching that wire go through.  It’s great.  It is so cool; it’s the coolest thing going.  This is jet-fighter, president, and interventional radiology –- those are the coolest jobs.   

Here’s a good picture.  This is a lady who had all those gall – this is a picture from Mrs. Johnson, who was a sweet young lady who had a gall bladder removal, and unfortunately the surgeon from an outside place really had major problems and dropped many stones into her gall bladder.  So she had all these clips; she had an obstruction in her.  She was jaundiced, she had pain, she had fever.  So she came to us, and we put a stent in her left duct.  Eventually, this is the only – this is now months later because you have to leave the stent in for awhile – but now all the stones are gone.  We got rid of all of them.  This is a ________ defect I saw in a _________ yesterday when we checked contrast actually through our tube track, and this was -–we weren't sure if it was a stone.  We went in with a scope again and couldn’t find it.  So probably about a week from now she’s going to get that stent removed and she’s cured.  Is that cool?  But --  It has to do with radiology because we use imaging to guide what we do.  Frequently, the fluoroscope because we’re watching what we do.  Frequently, ultrasound --  Each of my rooms now has ultrasound.  When I started interventional radiology – in 1992 is when I started my fellowship – 10 years ago, ultrasound wasn’t part of what we did.  We used fluoroscopy.  Over the last – I started as a second-year fellow in’93, we got an ultrasound machine because we started putting catheters in jugular veins.  I’d never done that.  As a surgeon, I’d put in a billion – probably not a billion, put in hundreds, of supplevian [?] catheters.  That was what we thought was the best place to put them.  You felt the clavical, you stuck – just kind of took a needle and worked your way under the clavical until you hit the supplevian [?] vein. That’s how you used landmarks.  

Here’s a patient; here’s their body.  Take a needle right here and stick it.  There were landmarks for sticking the jugular vein.  ____________ You’d aim for the contralateral nipple [?].  That’s what you did.  But it was hard.  But somebody came up with the thought, “Well, we’re radiologists; we use imaging.  Here’s an ultrasound.  Why don’t we, instead, stick the jugular vein under ultrasound guidance and watch the needle go in.”  And now we put – the vast majority of catheters placed for dialysis in this hospital, a large percentage of those placed for chemotherapy and a large percentage of the ports [?] placed are done by us here exclusively as an ultrasound.  Peripheral infusion [?] catheters frequently are placed by nurses on the floor, but when they can’t do it, they come to us and we use ultrasound and find the vein in the patient’s arm and use it.  So we have three ultrasound units dedicated to interventional radiology, fluoroscopy, ultrasound.   We also use CT for complex abscesses.  Sometimes people are, especially in Indiana, very fat and you can’t get to the abscesses that are a long way deep, and you can’t see them on ultrasound.  A bowel might get in the way.  So we have CT slots now so that if patients come in, we actually have a dedicated 12-15 CT slot that we keep in case we need it to drain an abscess, and in the morning they come by and say, “Do you need it?” and if not, we don’t take it from them.  Today we have one.  If we have a fat person with an abscess way deep, we won’t be able to see with an ultrasound camera.  Can’t see anything with fluoroscopy because abscesses look like everything else.  They’re just fluid -- and that’s a radiology thing we can talk about.  So now we use CT.  

When I was a fellow, occasionally we used  CT for very tough ones, but now we work through various modalities.  People are actually working now on using MR,. magnetic resonance, to guide intervention.  It’s a natural thing.  Makes it difficult because a lot of what we use have metal in them.  Needles are metal.  Put them in an MR scanner and it shoots across the road.  So we have to find nonmetal things to allow us to do that.  But people at Johns Hopkins, for example, are working on MR guidance -- actually not Hopkins as much as Northwestern.  There’s a young man at Northwestern.  His major research focus is MR guidance.  

The specialty changes by the week, and what we do and as the – this is, now, I’m skipping ahead – from history to current.  There’s a very strong political ____ in which medicine is.  Don’t think it’s any different than anywhere else.  And all the specialties fight against each other all of the time, but not quite as much as people see procedures that seem relevant to their specialty and feel that they should be able to do it.  And frequently what has happened in interventional radiology is that we’ve been the innovators, the pathfinders, and the inventors.  For example, with the angioplasty.  We invented angioplasty, but when you say angioplasty today – I say, “angioplasty,” what specialty do your think of?  Cardiology, because there at least 30 times more candiologists in the country than there are interventional radiologists.  Probably 100.  I don’t know the exact data.  And heart disease is a huge problem.  We invented coronary catherization and coronary angioplasty.  Cardiologists reasonably [?] think, “It’s the heart.  We learned how to do it.”  Now they do all cardiac catherization and angioplasty.  A similar thing happening in peripheral vascular disease.  We invented angiography, we invented angioplasty, we invented stents.  We invented everything, but cardiologists and vascular surgeons want to do it, too.  So the nature of interventional radiology has been we invent something, and either we hold on to it, or we find something else and we move on.  

These days innovation has continued to be what we do.  We are now doing things like treatment of liver tumors, treatment of uterine fibroids  -- things that who would ever have considered if a person has menorrhagia --  a woman comes in with heavy menstrual bleeding, that the person who might be able to take care of that is the interventional radiologist.  It’s been a phase shift over the last couple of  years.  So we continue to move, and the – like all of radiology, our goal should be to make it our own and hold on it.  That’s why when you said, “clinician,” I said, “not clinician – referring physician,” because we are the caretakers of the patients in interventional radiology.   They come to us, we solve their problems.  We manage them after that, when they have problems, they call us. That’s the thing.  It’s very different what we do and some of other radiology – I think mammography may be similar to us in that they seem to have hands on, guide patients, counsel.  But that’s, I think, a very important thing about interventional radiology, that we are clinical doctors.

I can jump back to history of intervention of I.U. if you want.  I never run out of words anyway.  My history here started in ’94, as we talked about, and this era started in ’93 when Scott got here, the way we view interventional radiology at I.U.  Prior to that, Nicki Harris, who was one of our partners in the first several years I was here was pretty much all there was in interventional radiology because she was a resident when Gary Becker was here, I think.  She’s the connection, I think.  And Gary Becker -- probably from other people.  Brilliant man, had the same ideas that I have.  Mine in part have originated from him.  He’s so influential.  He believed in interventional radiology clinical specialty, he believed in taking care of the patients, he believed in the importance of research.   If you do the research, it becomes your bastion.  And he is – was in the late ’80 , maybe mid- to late ‘80s and early ‘90s, one of the prime movers in research in interventional radiology.  He was the editor of JVIR, and I believe he was the first editor of our societal journal, JVIR.  Hugely informed and continues to be.  He is now a – after he left I.U., for reasons I am not totally cognizant of – probably others who were here would know and probably for the history worth checking out.  In truth, I think he might have had disagreements with the way things were moving.  But that would be something to check with others.  He went down to Miami to work with Barry Katsa [SP?] and Barry Katsa and Gary Becker have put together one of the most famous and successful interventional practices in the country.   Barry Katza is hugely influential at the national level in politics and in promotion and in marketing.  Gary Becker has always been respected as a researcher and an intellect.  And the two of them putting together Miami Vascular Institute and working with cardiologists and vascular surgeons have ___a model.  

And as an example of that, when I came here in 1994, soon thereafter – and I don’t know the exact date, but it was probably ’95 – Bill Cook, having become a trustee of Indiana University, wanted to have some influence in shaping it apparently because he took the Board of Trustees and the chairman and Myles Brand and Mike Dawson [SP?], the head of vascular surgery, and he invited Bob Holden, the chairman at the time, and he invited Scott Trerotola, the head of vascular interventional radiology at the time, to all go down to Florida to go to the Miami Vascular Institute and see how a successful vascular institute works.  It might have been – probably had something to do with our relationship with Gary Becker before that.  But he took the Board of Trustees – he took a planeload in his private jet, and because neither Bob Holden or Scott Trerotola could get off, he took a junior interventional radiologist, being me, in that jet with him.  So I sat next to Mike Dawson, the head of vascular surgery, and when I met the chief of staff – Daly, I think was head chief of staff, I didn’t know who he was.  I met Myles Brand and thought he was a nice guy.  He turned out to be the president of the university.  I didn’t know who he was.  I knew nobody.  And so I flew down in this plane.  I did know Gary Becker because I’d met him, and I’d met Barry Katsa.  And actually I was friends with Gary and with Jim Benotti, one of the senior guys at M.V.I.  It was something to have gone down there and done that.  More as an aside, what was also interesting is that on the way back, they dropped all the important dignitaries off in Bloomington from his private  jet – Myles Brand and everybody left, except for the doctors.  And on the way back to Indianapolis in that jet, the pilot must have been a trainee or something, but coming into the Indianapolis airport, he took it at about a 60 degree down and on a bank and we went down.  I was terrified, and he couldn’t make the landing.  So he went down and aborted the landing and went up and made a steep bank –it was like being in a circus.  I thought I was going to die. It was as frightening as anything.  And so that was the culmination.  That is that.  They dropped off all the board off and the little doctors, the chief of staff Daly and all that were on the plane as the pilot appeared to be practicing landing.  It was in this little private jet that held about 40 people.  It was really something.  I’m glad I survived.  My parents and family are quite interested..  

That was Becker.  So Becker left.  There was a vacuum.  I don’t know what happened.  I assume, given that Becker was one of the founding members of SVIR, that the history of IR at IU started with him.  But the hospital  wasn’t very old.  This hospital was built in ’78?  So the history prior to that – I know that Bob Holden, the former chairman, was in this section.  I used to back him up on call when I came here. I still do a couple of diagnostic cases that he did in intervention, back up.  Prior to Gary Becker, which would probably be the nominal interventional era, there was the special procedures era., and the angiography era which Eugene Klatte probably had something to do with and Bob Holden – I think everybody did everything back then.  Yune certainly did some.  He was – from what I have heard, he was a genius with a cath.   People spoke in hushed tones about him.  His last day was the day before I got here.  He would be a great resource because he is the bridge.  He was here for a year when Scott was here, and Scott Trerotola, who is among the best I’ve ever seen and is no shrinking violet, has no small ego, referred to Yune with great reverence.  He’s [Trerotola] very good.  He is the reason I came here; he is the exclusive reason I came to Indiana.

[Interviewer mentions that she had talked with Dr. Treratola about the device he made.]

We all have things we made.  That PTD?  That worked out well for him. He had a patent for the PTD, and it made money.  I have four patents and at this point haven’t made the money.  [DR. JOHNSON SHOWS HIS SENSE OF HUMOR.]  I’ve learned a lot about patents.  Patents are nice little plaques you put on your wall, and that’s usually what they’re worth.  But it you happen to come across a fantastic invention whose time it is, which is what he did, and being at the forefront of dialysis intervention, it was perfect.  It was the perfect device for the perfect time. Works very well.  And couldn’t have come to a person who deserves it more, because he really -- tireless and brilliant.  But, anyway, we were talking about Yune as the bridge. So my view of the era would be Klatte, Holden, Yune, any of the other guys that did it.  I know Yune did, I know Holden did, and I think Klatte might have had something to do with it.  They can tell you about the early part of interventional here.  Then Yune, and then Scott came, but because Becker had left – and I think they were not on the best terms – there was a vacuum in interventional that Nicki Harris should not be overlooked.  Because Nicki did – what I have heard and been told [she] was the interventional department for a year or two at the end of her residency.  I think her fellowship consisted of her residency.  I don’t know what her training was, but she pretty much picked up the pieces.  That’s when they looked for a new section head, and it is to the credit of Bob Holden that he recognized the genius of Scott Trerotola because Scott is 40 now.  When he came here in ‘93, he was 33 years old.  That’s pretty young to be a section in a Big 10 university.  He was brilliant.  He took what was in total disarray and kept Nikki – he should have because she was very talented.  No interest in research.  She was very interested in education; no interest in research.  

Scott came from the east coast; he was the protégé of the editor of Radiology, Stan Siegelman [SP?].  He’d already written a book with a bone guy [?] in residency.  Truly tireless and brilliant.  Came here and totally molded the program into a center of excellence for clinical, research, and education.  When he came here the year before I got here, they had a single interventional radiology fellow – one.  They managed all four hospitals, and there were three interventional radiologists.  And they did, maybe, 2500 procedures that year.  The first year I was here, we had three fellows; we did 3100 procedures.  Since that time --  At one point, when Scott was still here, we had eight interventional radiologists covering four hospitals.  We had four fellows.  Since that time, Scott left to become section head and vice chair at Penn and Neal left in January of this year to become section head at Rush.  Which is what happens in academics.  If you’re good, you move up.  You’re supposed to.  I anticipate the members of my section will do the same.  But right now we have six.  So we have six people.  We did almost 10,000 procedures last year.  

[Interviewer asks about those six.]

John left – The three that were here before I got here – Scott Trerotola, John Snidow, Nicki Harris.  Those three, the skeleton crew.  When I got here, there were four  which, at the time, was not enough, but it was closer.  John left, I think, about a year or two after that for family reasons.  He had a special needs child, and so he went to Kentucky after having done some excellent MR angiography research.  He’s one of the earliest -- he first authored several papers on magnetic resonance angiography; so those papers on that topic, early ones,  came from here with his authorship, and us [?] working on it, but mostly John.  He left for those reasons.  Nicki left probably ’95 – not ’95, ’97; so she was here for a couple more years, pretty much burned out.  In truth, she said, “You and Scott are research guys.”  I remember the talk.  She said, “You and Scott are research guys and you’ve got a plan.  I don’t want to do that research.”  She wanted to do clinical and education, and it became with Scott became a much more regimented program.  I mean, we adhered to national mores, we were part of multiple clinical trials.  We were doing the actual research, and it became a more difficult place to work.  It is.  I mean, to try to maintain excellence in research and excellence in the clinical and maintain the educational value, it’s a very difficult place to work, very difficult indeed.  

Not everybody’s interested [in all three areas], and not everybody’s interested as their lives pass, to be here all the time.  My family and Scott's family -- they made huge sacrifices for us.  I wasn’t around a lot and still haven’t – my family is still making those sacrifices, and the young guys here have expressed concern to me about how difficult it is.  And, in truth, if you look at why people go into academics, frequently people go into academics because you don’t make as much money, but it’s a different lifestyle.  For us, you don’t make as much money, and it’s a more difficult lifestyle with less vacation, more cases.  We do – we earn more on average than the average private practice interventional guy per case because we do more.  In addition to doing that, we also do research and do education.  It is a very intense, difficult lifestyle.  Mervyn has recognized that and has approved and supported our search for more staff.  So coming in -- by August, instead of the six of us that are here, there’ll be nine.  And we’re going to train a dedicated interventional pediatric radiologist.  He’s starting his fellowship with us in July.  And we’ll probably hire another adult.  So right now we have six.  There’s clear need for eleven.  So we are working at half staff now.  It’s a difficult – As a history, you probably want to be honest, rather than just all-glowing, and a real problem right now is the difficulty with which my section is met.  But I’m not complaining because I made those concerns known to my chairman, and he addressed them.  And we’re doing the best we can.  It’s hard to attract people to academic medicine now because you don’t make as much money.  I mean, hugely big [?] --  How many people have you interviewed?

[Interviewer:  40-some.]

Has anyone ever mentioned any of this stuff to you?

[Interviewer:  Some parts of it, but vaguely.]

I wonder why.  It’s so important to academic medicine.

[Interviewer:  Maybe I didn’t give them the opportunity.  But I think this need for more people – the department has grown so rapidly.  There was a period earlier in the history when they didn’t try to do all that you do – research, for example.  Or as much --]

Oh, definitely.  That was like the Nicki Harris era.  Maybe why Becker left.  For us it takes a specific need because there are stresses that aren’t experienced by other sections because having a person die under your care is rough.  It’s a whole different animal.  But we’re here because we want to be here.

[Interviewer:  Who else wants to be with you?  There are six.  Who is in the six?]

That’s an important question.  After Nicki left, we were again very concerned because now with Scott and me and Him Shah – he’s the first.  He was the first fellow who stayed with us.  I believe my first year we had three fellows, two women and a man; all of whom went into private practice.  The next year Him was in a group of four; we finally had four fellows, I think – maybe just three still – and he was the one of three who chose to stay in academics.  So he was our first sell for academics.  He’s been a glorious, wonderful, every-good-positive-word-you-can-think-of asset to the department in all respects.  Especially for a guy who’s not terribly interested in research.  He’s stayed to teach and to work and to help the department.  And has supported all the clinical research projects that the rest of us have done.  Immediately after Him – after Nicki left; I think she left in July – Jan Namyslowski came from Boston, from Tufts.  They were having problems in Boston hospitals so there was an exodus, I believe, from those institutions, and he came to us.  And Jan has been here ever since, as has Him.  The next year – you’ll have to get these clarified – that’s me, Him, Jan.  The next one, I think, was Mike Stecker, and he came in about ’98.  No, he just had his three-year review; so that would be ’99, somewhere in that area.  We also instituted a research fellowship program in that area, and Gordon McLennan was our first two-year research fellow.  And Gordon, now, stayed on the staff after two years; so he and Mike are very similar when they joined us.  They joined within a year of each other.  I’m not sure which one was first.  I think Mike was first and then Gordon from out of  fellowship.  So I started, then Him, then Jan, I think Mike, and then Gordon, and then last July David Agarwal is our second fellow who stayed on with us in research   That’s the six of us.

We also have a young man named Iftikhar Ahmad who – he was on a training visa, finished his fellowship in interventional radiology, and then had to do work in an underserved area.  So he’s at a small private hospital outside of here but wanted to keep up his interventional skills; so about two years ago offered to come and do – to staff with us part time for free.  He staffed with us.  He’s not part of IU.  He’s in a non-IU hospital.  He came to work for us for free.  And we liked him enough that last year we paid him as a part-time staff.  So he has worked twenty-six weeks of last year to help us out, which has been phenomenal, especially after Scott and Neal left while we’re continuing to expand.  Without Ifty, we might be dead.  And now we offered him a full-time job.  He’s going to start with us in August.  And the other two – this is future history --  Sebah Butty is now a fellow at the University of Virginia.  He will join us in July.  And then a guy named Thomas Casciani was a fellow at Dartmouth, went into private practice, decided he didn’t like it, and will join us in August as well.  Those will be the nine once we get there.  It’s great.  The people we have are phenomenal.  

And I can tell you about each of them in their history.  It’s probably worth it.  Him, as you know, in addition to being a great clinician is apparently a great administrator and willing to take on the innumerable problems that are Wishard.  Wishard is different and difficult.  He’s done a great job doing it.  Jan is a very good clinician, doesn’t want to do research.  Although he didn’t want to do research, yet has now started doing it and has now just taken on being the primary investigator in a clinical trial of ____ cable [?] filters.  We just had our meeting about it yesterday, about the protocol, so he’s going to submit that to the IRB and begin being a P.I.  It gets in your blood.  Eventually, after taking care of peripheral for so long, he’s now done it as a P.I., which I think is great.   Primary investigator.  If you become the primary investigator, the study becomes entirely your responsibility.  It’s a big deal to be a P.I.

Next, after him, would be Mike Stecker, who did join wanting to do research and has – He’s already doing an investigator-initiated trial, which means not-corporate sponsored, trial of hemostasis, a method of hemostasis, which is very nice.  He’s looking at time – that means blood-clotting.  He himself is evaluating whether it matters at all about coagulation profiles when you take out catheters, and it’s something doesn’t seem all that sexy, but it’s – he looked at a problem that was present in clinical medicine, actually polled the membership of the society of cardiovascular and interventional radiology and got 100% different responses from the people who responded, saying, “We do it this way.”  Others saying, “We do it this way.”  And so he himself designed a protocol to identify that and took it upon himself to put it to the IRB.  That’s pretty cool.  So he’s doing that.  He also has taken a great interest the clinical practice of interventional radiology.  Oh, and he is working – what I didn’t tell you was that, initially, before Scott left, we decided we really did need more help, and it was hard to recruit academic interventional radiologists; and so we brought Don Armenoff in.  Don Armenoff is a physician assistant, one of the very few physician assistants in Indiana, but even fewer – there are no other physician assistants that were in interventional radiology when we brought him here.  So he’s an experienced physician assistant who works with us now, and about two months ago we hired our second physician assistant.  So these are people who can help us do minor procedures.  They have helped us  around on the floors on our patients, and Don Armenoff has pretty much, with Mike, built the uterine fibroid embolization program that we have.  They worked together on the web site; they’ve worked together with the marketing people, they’ve worked together contacting patients, dealing with insurance companies.  It’s been a fabulous thing that other radiologists haven’t dealt with.  Breaking the grounds.  They pre-certify, they talk to insurance companies, they advertise, they’ve gone out and given talks at outlying hospitals, they went to Johnson County.  Those guys have been invaluable in building a practice.  

Gordon McLennan is my designated – I came here for research; I’m a research guy.  That’s what I wanted to do.  Scott was the section head.  He did all the administrative stuff, did some clinical studies, and did some corporate-sponsored animal research.  You know, like he’d test the PTD or he’d test a catheter. I knew what I wanted to do.  I had specific problems I wanted to address.  I had a grant from S_R [?] to work on one; I spent a lot of time in the animal lab working on things like animal models.  So my goal when I was here was to come – Scott would administrate and I would be the research guy.  And so I did stuff – I worked on the patent things I talked about; I came up with an idea that I thought was – I still think is -- fabulous, about how to inhibit resonosis after angioplasty or stenting.   I’m working with it, and I’ve done some studies to evaluate it.  I’m still going to do them, but that was what I wanted to do – I wanted to do research.  Loved the clinical stuff, loved biliary, loved _______ and graphs [?].  Got involved in that.  I didn’t want to administrate.  And then Scott left, and it became clear that I was appropriately the section head, most senior, and so I took that over.  Administration is pretty much – it’s probably about 100% of the time I could spend administrating, but when you’re 100% clinical and 100% administrative, it doesn’t leave much time for research.  

We are at a time in our history – we have, we had what was a state-of-the-art animal facility when I arrived in 1994.  We have procedures suites to do small operations on animals.  We had anesthesia capability.  We had at that time a very good – at that point it was old but functional X-ray unit.  Soon after I got here, like maybe four years ago, we bought a Toshiba angiographic unit; so now we had an actual, pretty good angiographic unit in the animal lab that we could use.  So we had a good angiographic unit; we had –Scott and I had built up corporate relationships.  We had some grant support, and we were moving along.  I worked on these patent things I’ve talked about, evaluating those technologies, working with the companies. And then Scott left for reasonable reasons.  He came from Pennsylvania, he went to medical school at Penn, his relatives were still there.  And they offered him a great --  they offered him big, famous, even more famous than I.U., interventional section.  I mean these are – many of the founding fathers of interventional radiology --.  We were getting the animal lab to where we wanted it to be, which is a place that could support any animal study that was requested of us where we could do grant – the next stage.  We got lots of corporate stuff, and the companies loved to work with us and maybe to the extent that we’ve taken ideas to them that they’ll support.  I’d had some grant support for what I’d done through SVIR [?], but the next stage of a world-class research institution is to get NIH grants or really huge grants like that. 

I wanted Gordon, our research fellow, who really has demonstrated to be brilliant in research, focused, a self-starter.   What you need to be in research is you have to have a plan and you have to stick to it.  You can’t want for things to come to you because they won’t.  Gordon from day one demonstrated that he was going to be – that research was something for which he was really well adapted.  He, himself, authored countless papers during his fellowship, and subsequent to his fellowship applied for and was awarded with an RSNA scholar grant.  There aren’t a lot of interventional radiologists that get that.  He’s working on a NAH [?] grant for research relating to the things, local drug delivery and hemodialysis, which are two of our major research focii.  He’s done it.  And also because of that, I turned the reins over for the development of the research lab to Gordon.  He is the current director of the radiology research lab since I’m doing something like talking to you.  So he has proven wonderful with that.  In addition – in great part, vast majority part because of  Scott’s devotion and desire and interest in dialysis, we have become recognized, as I have noted, as a center of excellence for dialysis care.  For example, the DOQI, Dialysis Outcomes Quality Initiative,  published four years ago and revised last year, was the culmination of years of effort by about 14 physicians, which were 11 medicine people, a couple of surgeons, and Scott.  That is viewed as the guide for clinical care for dialysis patients throughout the world, and he is the sole interventional radiologist who is the writer of it.  

He has in large part – all of us have benefited from his coattails in that regard.  But also because we’ve done it.  People are interested in my thoughts on dialysis now because I’ve been doing it for eight years. Which is good.  And that’s helpful for our department.  But Gordon has taken up the responsibility for maintaining and promulgating that excellence.  He manages our databases for dialysis.  We have extensive databases of every patient we’ve seen, every complication, every question we have, every resolve is in the database.  And that database is approved by the institutional review board for use in research.  That is something that is quite a gold mine, quite a gold mine for thought.  I should have noted that Mike Stecker runs the database for all other patients for the university and for the V.A,, and he runs it at Wishard.  And that in itself – by having those data, it is so exemplary of the knowledge is power.  We have those data.  We know everything, we know everything about what we have done – We instituted that database in ‘96 or ’97; so for the last five years every patient that’s been seen by us, you know, why they came, what we did, what the result was.  It enables us to know rather than to guess.  That is an enormous amount of effort that Mike and Gordon and Him have put it.  So that’s something I should have noted along as far as the history because with that database, we can move on, and it will benefit us in research and in clinical and everything else.  The last guy I haven’t noted is David, who joined us specifically with an interest in education.  He said, “I’m not interested in research.”  Since that time, he has been extremely valuable in setting up a multidisciplinary conference on the treatment of patients with liver cancer – liver patients –liver tumors.  We just had that conference today; it meets every month, attended by surgeons, oncologists, hepitologists, and interventional radiologists, and helps shape the care of patients with liver tumors.  David, in addition, is working on research protocols, research that he never wanted to do, but now he’s really interested in doing – to evaluate those methods of care.  Which is a huge amount of effort on his part, but he’s doing that while taking care of patients, while doing all this other stuff, and he’s the head of our fellowship now.  

The fellowship when I got here Nicki had run it; when Nicki left, I ran it.  When I took over as the section head, Neal ran it.  When Neal left to become section head, David has taken it over.  That’s the history of the fellowship.  That’s an enormous amount of work but extremely valuable in teaching other interventional radiologists and also just making it grow here.  We are going to have five clinical fellows next year and a research fellow.  So now we’re at six.  Without them, we couldn’t do what we do.  Right now, the fellows are brutalized.  Two fellows for the University is not enough, one for the V.A. is enough, one for Wishard is enough.  So if we’re all here – if all four are here, there are four fellows.  The ones at the outside hospitals are okay, but we have nobody dedicated to Riley; so people at Riley are suffering. What we need are more interventional radiologists at Riley, which we can’t staff, but the two fellows that we do have – it’s an enormous burden here and we need more, especially, when one’s on vacation and there’s one fellow managing – We do frequently 25 cases a day; so to be a fellow and to be responsible for that data,  it’s very difficult. 

 I think I could be helpful because I probably shouldn’t spend any more time, but I would love to show you – you probably have no concept of interventional radiology.  Right?  Have you ever seen interventional radiology?  Most of our patients are pretty sick, almost always.  But I think it would be helpful to you to understand what I’m talking about if you could see – 

[Interviewer asks quickly, “Where is this animal laboratory located?”]

It’s located in the basement of the Library building.  But it’s moving to a new radiology research building, and Gordon and I and Gary Hutchins are the ones who designed the animal lab that will be there.  

[Interviewer:  Do all parts of radiology use this?]

Almost no one outside of Gordon and me.  Really.  There are some.  Occasionally you’ll see – I think Dr. Holden had a study and occasionally you’ll see something else, but --   Every once in a while someone will do a study, but really – Scott used in a fair amount, a lot; Neal used it a lot; I used it a lot; Gordon used it a lot.  Other than that, most people – and right now – I just finished a series of experiments.  The only one using it at this point is Gordon.  Because Neal and I were the two other majors that used it after Scott left.  It’s – the opportunities for the lab are phenomenal because we’ve worked with surgery doing it, we’ve worked with cardiology doing it.  It is another center of excellence, to have that animal lab with the imaging equipment in it associated --  The new one’s going have an associated surgical suite and an associated biomolectular chemistry suite – biochemistry and molecular biology suite adjacent to it.  We’re hoping – we’ve already interviewed several Ph.D., ; so we’ll have a Ph.D. in vascular physiology running that aspect of it.  I’m not a vascular Ph.D. A lot of the stuff that we want to do is down at the biomalecular level.

Actually, research in animals is very dependent upon what you want to do. For example, pigs are the best animal model for most blood vessel things.  Dogs are good for tracheas, although I think Gordon used pig tracheas.  He just did a study of tracheas and was using pigs.  There are extreme variations in responses as they relate to humans.  For example, you could do anything to a rat, and whether or not that’s representative of what will happen to humans, is especially -- you don’t know.  In the blood vessels, rats don’t really represent humans; rabbits don’t really represent humans.  Pigs do.  They’re the best non-primate species.  If you want to use baboons, that would be best, but baboons are huge, vicious, strong and bright.  And you have to have a cultural enrichment program.  You don’t have to have that for pigs.  So, we use pigs.  Animal research is another whole story.  For me, it’s difficult because I like them a lot.  It’s hard when you do research on things that you like.  I think it’s the right way to be; I think you should love and respect your research subjects, but it makes it hard and it’s a lot easier if we could use banana slugs.  That’s what I wish I could do research on.  We use them for whatever is appropriate.  For the local drug delivery, we do angioplasty and then inject a p_____ with the drugs in it next to the angioplasty site and see whether  it helped.  Or in hemodialysis, we created a dialysis model in pigs to see whether or not the shunts we that created would behave similarly to humans.  My biggest success was that I came up with a pig model that actually did – 

TAPE ENDS

